
AGENDA 

August 16, 2019 
Tieszen Law Office Conference Room 

306 East Capitol Ave, Ste 300 
Pierre, SD  57501 
8:00 a.m. (CST) 

1. Attendance

2. Approval of Agenda

3. Board Member Request for Conflict Waiver

4. Approve minutes from the regular meeting on March 25, 2019, telephonic meeting on May 8, 2019,
and telephonic meeting on June 13, 2019.

5. Treasurer’s Report
• ARBO Annual Meeting Report
• DOH Executive Meeting Updates

6. Board review and approve CE courses

7. Old Business
a. National and State Issues Monitored
b. Pharmacy Board Database Integration
c. Administrative Rule and Statute Review
d. Law and Ethics Exam Applicant Protocol

8. New Business
a. Licensing
b. Procedural Codes
c. Administrative Rule/Legislative Updates
d. BPro Contract: $70/hour to $85/hour

9. Public Comment

10. Time and place of next meeting

11. Adjournment

This meeting is being held in a physically accessible place.  Individuals needing assistance, pursuant to the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, should contact the in Board of Examiners in Optometry (605-279-2244) or 
sdoptboard@goldenwest.net at least 24 hours advance of the meeting to make any necessary arrangements. 

Board of Examiners in Optometry 
PO Box 513 

Wall, SD  57790 
sdoptboard@goldenwest.net 
Telephone: (605) 279-2244 

Website: http://optometry.sd.gov 

1

mailto:sdoptboard@goldenwest.net


1 

CONFLICT WAIVER  

INSTRUCTIONS AND FORM 

SDCL 5-18A-17 to 5-18A-17.6 

INTRODUCTION 

Generally, absent a waiver, current and certain former state officers and employees are 

prohibited from contracting with state agencies and from deriving benefits from contracts with 

outside entities when the state officer or employee had substantial involvement in 

recommending, awarding or administering the contract.  These prohibitions also apply to persons 

who supervise state officers or employees who award and administer contracts.  These laws 

however, will not affect all state officials and employees.  These laws affect those state officers 

and employees who are involved with state contracts, which will be discussed later in this 

document.   

The prohibition on conflicts of interest applies to persons currently serving as state 

officers and employees.  A state officer is a person who is elected or appointed to serve a state 

agency. The prohibition on conflicts of interest in certain situations can also apply to persons 

who previously served as state officers and employees.  The rules as they apply to former state 

officers and employees are described later in this document.   

These instructions will assist the current and former executive branch state officer and 

employee with determining whether a prohibited conflict exists or might exist.  These 

instructions will guide the current or former state officer and employee through the process 

established for requesting a waiver.  These instructions will also guide the state officer acting on 

the waiver request. 

The law applies to ALL state officers and employees.  Employees of agencies and 

instrumentalities other than executive branch agencies under the control of the Governor should 

contact their supervisor for information about processes and procedures for waivers established 

for their agency. 

SUMMARY OF THE LAW 

Who the law applies to: 

Generally speaking, the prohibitions apply to officers and employees who 

a. approve, award or administer a contract;

b. recommend the approval or award of a contract; and

c. supervise persons who approve, award or administer a contract.

2



2 

“Administer a contract” means decision-making or substantive influence on decision-

making concerning the manner, method or means of a contract’s performance or enforcement. 

“Administer a contract” does not include performing mere clerical tasks such as posting 

payments or communicating decisions made by others.   

The prohibitions in the law also follow a former state officer or employee for a period of 

one year after they leave state employment. 

What the law does: 

1. A state officer or employee who recommends the award of a contract, or who

approves, awards or administers a contract, can’t be interested in, or benefit from, a contract that 

is within the scope of his/her duties while in  office.  This means a state officer or employee can’t 

be a party to a contract with state government while he or she is in office, nor can they derive a 

benefit, as discussed further later in this document from contracts awarded to parties outside state 

government if the state officer recommends, approves, awards or administers the contract.  This 

prohibition also applies to the supervisors or persons who approve, award or administer 

contracts. 

2. A state officer or employee who recommends, approves, awards or administers a

contract can’t derive a benefit from a contract for a period of one year after they leave office.  

This prohibition also applies to the supervisors of persons who approve, award or administer 

contracts. 

3. A state officer or employee who recommends, approves, awards of administers

contracts can’t enter into a contract with any state agency – except an employment contract – for 

a period of one year after they leave office.  This prohibition also applies to the supervisors of 

persons who approve, award or administer a contract. 

What does “derive a benefit” from a contract mean?  

The state officer or employee and/or his or her spouse or any other person with whom the 

officer or employee lives and commingles, or combines assets cannot: 

1. Have more than a five percent ownership or other interest in the contracting party;

2. Take a salary, commission or other compensation directly from the contract or from

the contracting entity;

3. Acquire property under the contract; or

4. Serve on the board of a for-profit entity that derives income from the contract or

acquires property under the contract. 

How does the law affect former state officers and employees? 

3



3 

A state officer or employee who recommends, approves, awards or administers a contract 

can’t derive a benefit from a contract for a period of one year after they leave their office or  

position.  This prohibition also applies to the supervisors of persons who approve, award or 

administer contracts. 

A state officer or employee who recommends, approves, awards or administers contracts 

can’t enter into a contract with any state agency – except an employment contract – for a period 

of one year after they leave their office or position.  This prohibition also applies to the 

supervisors of persons who approve, award or administer a contract. 

EXAMPLES OF TRANSACTIONS PROHIBITED ABSENT A WAIVER 

1. A current state employee enters into a seasonal contract to mow Game Fish  and Park

properties.  This is a prohibited direct contract with the state for which a waiver must be 

requested. 

2. Governor’s Office of Economic Development (afterwards referred to as “GOED”)

finance employee reviews SD Works loan application and recommends approval.  GOED 

Commissioner approves and the loan is made.  The following persons are prohibited from having 

an interest in or benefiting from the loan:  The recommending loan officer, persons on GOED 

staff who evaluate the borrower’s performance (for example, maintaining the necessary debt 

coverage ratios), Deputy Commissioner (supervises GOED staff who evaluate the borrower’s 

performance), GOED Commissioner (supervisor of GOED staff who evaluate borrower’s 

performance and awarded the loan), the Governor and all their spouses and other persons with 

whom they live and commingle assets. 

Examples of prohibited benefits: (i) a prohibited person may not work for the borrower 

while the officer or employee is in office or within one year thereafter; (ii) a prohibited person 

may not sit on the board of directors of a for-profit entity, such as a corporation or limited 

liability company that benefits from the loan. 

3. Bureau of Administration (afterwards referred to as “BOA”) advertises for bids for a

new equipment storage shed.  A staff engineer at Office of State Engineer (afterwards referred to 

as “OSE”)  reviews the bids, recommends an award and supervises construction.  The BOA 

commissioner awards the contract.  The following persons are prohibited from benefiting from 

the contract: the recommending staff engineer, the state engineer (supervises a person involved 

in administering the contract), the BOA commissioner (supervisor and awarded the contract), the 

Governor’s Office of Economic Development member responsible for BOA (supervisor), the 

Governor (supervisor) and their spouses and other persons with whom they live and commingle 

assets.       

 Example of prohibited benefits: a prohibited person works for the construction company. 

4



4 

4. Department of Social Services (afterwards “DSS”) forms a committee to review

proposals and recommend the award of a contract.  The committee is made up of persons from 

divisions of DSS other than the one that will enter into the contract.  The committee makes a 

proposal and the contract is awarded.  The following persons are prohibited from benefiting from 

the contract: committee members (recommended the award), the division director who awarded 

the contract, the division director’s supervisor, the cabinet secretary, the GECO member 

responsible for DSS (supervisor), the Governor (supervisor) AND all their spouses and other 

persons with whom they live and commingle assets.  NOTE that in this example the supervisors 

of the persons who sat on the committee making the recommendation are not covered because 

the law doesn’t include supervisors of persons who merely make recommendations.   

Example of prohibited benefits:  a member of the committee making the recommendation 

owns more than five percent of the stock of the contracting entity; the spouse of the cabinet 

secretary is a commissioned sales person for the contracting entity. 

5. On June 15, 2015, a Department of Transportation (afterwards “DOT”) employee,

acting within the scope of the employee’s duties, recommends the award of a signage contract.  

The employee then retires. Six months after retirement, the employee decides he or she would 

like some seasonal work and takes a job with the signage contractor.  Before taking the job, the 

former DOT employee must apply for a waiver because the DOT employee would be taking a 

salary from the contractor within one year after recommending the award of a contract to that 

contractor.    

SMALL TRANSACTIONS 

Effective July 1, 2015, the Governor granted a blanket waiver, for all transactions of 

$200.00 or less.   Therefore, it is not necessary to seek a waiver for otherwise covered 

transactions, as long as the amount is $200.00 or less.  Please be aware, however, that purchasing 

card and other small transactions are reviewed from time to time and a series or pattern of 

transactions that would otherwise be covered by the law may result in further inquiry and 

possible disciplinary action if found to be inappropriate. 

CONTRACTS AWARDED PRIOR TO JULY 1, 2015 

Persons who on and after July 1, 2015, derive a benefit from a state contract in which 

they played a role prior to July 1, 2015, should go through the waiver process.  Similarly, the law 

applies to those who administrator contracts on and after July 1, 2015 even if the contract was 

awarded prior to July 1, 2015.  

AGENCY-SPECIFIC CONFLICTS STATUTES 

There may be more specific conflict of interest statutes relating to your agency.  You are 

encouraged to ask your supervisor as to the existence of any such regulations.  In the event the 

5



5 

general law described in these instructions and the regulations specific to your agency are 

different, the more restrictive laws will be applied. 

PENALTIES FOR NON-COMPLIANCE 

If a waiver is necessary but isn’t sought or granted, the contract that was involved may be 

voided and the state officer or employee may be subject to disciplinary action.  If the contract 

was the result of a quid pro quo, or a promise for something, such as a cash payment or promise 

of future employment, the current or former officer or employee may be removed from office 

and/or be subject to criminal prosecution.  If the current or former state officer or employee 

failed to seek and obtain a waiver knowing one was likely required, the person could be removed 

from their office or position, and/or be subject to criminal prosecution. 

WAIVERS 

A waiver authorizing the state officer or employee to contract with state government or 

benefit from a contract may be granted if: 

1. A waiver is requested in writing;

2. The relevant terms of the contract or transaction are provided in writing;

3. The officer reviewing the waiver has reviewed the essential terms of the contract or

transaction; 

4. The officer reviewing the waiver has reviewed  the requesting party’s role in the

contract or transaction; and 

5. The terms of the contract are fair, reasonable and not contrary to the public interest.

PROCESS TO OBTAIN A WAIVER 

State officers and employees seeking a waiver must submit a request in writing. The form 

to be used to request a waiver titled “Request for Waiver” is provided with these instructions.   

The Governor has given the authority to decide on waiver requests to cabinet secretaries 

and commissioners, subject to the right to appeal an adverse decision to the Office of the 

Governor.  The written request for a waiver must be submitted to the cabinet secretary or 

commissioner with responsibility for your agency (or your former agency for former officers and 

employees).  The secretary or commissioner will arrange a time to ask questions about the 

contract and why a waiver would not be contrary to the public interest.  The secretary or 

commissioner will act on your request within five working days of receipt.  If the there is no 

action on your request within five working days, contact Bureau of Human Resources at (605) 

773-3148 or Chris.Houlette@state.sd.us.

6



6 

If the state officer or employee is not happy with the decision of the secretary or 

commissioner, the state officer or employee may submit a written appeal to the Office of the 

Governor by hand delivering or emailing the request form, the secretary’s or commissioner’s 

decision and a short statement of your reasons for disagreeing with the decision to Chris 

Houlette, Bureau of Human Resources, 500 East Capitol Avenue, Pierre, SD 57501-5070, 

Chris.Houlette@state.sd.us.  The Governor will act on all appeals within five working days of 

receipt. 

CAUTION:  The failure to act on a request for a waiver does not mean the waiver will be 

allowed.  The state officer or employee must be diligent to request and follow through on waiver 

requests as necessary.  

The request for waiver form will be filed with the Bureau of Human Resources and is a 

public record.  Once a year, the Bureau of Human Resources (afterwards “BHR”) will put 

together all of the waivers granted in the previous year and provide them to the Legislature’s 

Government Operations and Audit Committee. 

State officers and employees are encouraged to contact BHR at (605) 773-3148 or 

Chris.Houlette@state.sd.us with questions about the applicability of the law and the process for 

requesting a waiver.   

USEFUL LINKS 

The law governing unlawful self-dealing, conflicts of interest and waivers will be found 

in South Dakota Codified Law (afterwards “SDCL”) Section 5-18A-17 to SDCL 5-18A-17.6.   

Beginning July 1, 2015, they will be able to viewed at the South Dakota Legislative Research 

Council website (direct link the statutes will be available at this link:  

http://legis.sd.gov/Statutes/Codified_Laws/default.aspx) 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR STATE OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES 

SEEKING WAIVER 

If the potential for a conflict exists, you should immediately prepare and submit the form 

Request for Waiver.   

Briefly describe your relationship to the contract in question and why you believe it may 

be covered by the law, including how you, your spouse or anyone with whom you live and 

commingle, or combine assets (for example, a girlfriend or boyfriend, roommate or adult child) 

might benefit from the contract. 

7



7 

Also briefly describe why you believe a waiver would not be contrary to the public 

interest.  For example, was the contract part of a competitive bidding process? Were others 

involved in the decision-making process?  Are the terms consistent with other, similar contracts? 

THE FORM IS A PUBLIC DOCUMENT THAT WILL BE OPEN TO PUBLIC 

INSPECTION. 

Your supervisor will ask follow-up questions as necessary to help determine if there was 

any quid pro quo, or a promise for something for the contract, if the officer or employee is a 

covered person and/or might derive a benefit, and if a waiver would be contrary to the public 

interest.  Some of these questions might include important details about the contract, including 

compensation received by the state officer or employee or his or her spouse.    

INSTRUCTIONS FOR OFFICIAL ACTING ON REQUEST 

Upon receipt of a written request for a waiver, you must promptly review it and if you 

deem it necessary, schedule an interview with the employee.  Interviews are encouraged for 

anything other than the most basic waiver requests. 

In the interest of fairness to officers and employees requesting waivers and persons with 

whom they may be dealing, and as directed by the Governor, all requests for waivers must be 

acted on by you within five (5) business days of receipt of the written request form.  If you deem 

the form incomplete, you must address any questions during the interview; you may not use an 

incomplete request form as a reason to extend the review time. 

You may delegate the responsibility to act on waiver requests in your absence to a deputy 

secretary or commissioner. 

Employees have been instructed to contact BHR if action is not taken within five working 

days.  

Anything other than the most basic request for a waiver will require probing questions 

from you concerning the requesting party’s relationship to the contract (for example, why did 

you recommend approval; what was the process for determining the award of the contract); the 

requesting party’s relationship to the outside contracting party (for example, what is your 

relationship with the principals of the company; have you or any family members worked for this 

company in the past; do you or any of your family members plan to work for them in the future; 

are the terms of this contract consistent with other, similar contracts with other parties); whether 

the contract terms are reasonable and in the public interest (for example, price, the contractor’s 

experience, the process used to award the contract); and any other questions you believe will 

help establish the true facts and circumstances surrounding the award of the contract and the 

request for waiver. 

Facts and circumstances that should raise red flags, lead to further questions and possibly 

result in the denial of a waiver include the lack of any meaningful competitive process before the 

8



8 

award of the contract, price or other terms that seem unusual, and a job or employment terms 

offered to someone leaving state government by the contractor that are not generally consistent 

with the person’s prior experience and pay.  

Any notes you take during the interview and as a part of your deliberative process should 

be on a separate sheet of paper and maintained in your files; they should not be attached to the 

Request for Waiver form. 

Your decision on the request should be noted on the form and signed.  If the officer or 

employee appeals to the Office of the Governor, you will be contacted for an explanation of your 

reason for denying the request.   

9



9 

REQUEST FOR WAIVER 

SDCL 5-18A-17 to 5-18A-17.6 

THIS IS A PUBLIC DOCUMENT 

Date:_________________________________________________________________ 

Employee Name:_______________________________________________________ 

Employee Signature: ____________________________________________________ 

Agency:_______________________________________________________________ 

Position No:____________________________________________________________ 

Title:__________________________________________________________________ 

Brief explanation of your potential conflict of interest: 

Brief explanation of your role in the award, administration or supervision of a contract with an 

outside party or your current or anticipated business transaction with a state agency (other than a 

contract of employment): 

Brief explanation of why you believe a waiver should be granted: 

FOR AGENCY/BHR USE ONLY: 

Date received by official acting on request: 

Signature of Official acting on request:________________________________________ 

Date of interview: 

Date acted upon: 

Waiver granted? Y/N 

If waiver is conditional, so note here (Y/N), list conditions  

on separate sheet and attach to this document. 

Appeal requested?  Y/N 

Appeal received in Governor’s Office: 

Date appeal acted upon: 

Waiver granted on appeal? Y/N 

Received by BHR: 

.

10



1 

 

1. Attendance: President Dockter called the meeting to order at 8:30AM on March 25, 2019.

2. Approval of Agenda

Board Action: J Farmen moved to approve the agenda, seconded by A Haiar.

 

3. Board Member Requests for Conflict Waiver: There were no requests for conflict waivers
or action taken.

4. Board Minutes

Board Action: S Schirber moved to approve minutes from August 17, 2019, October 29, 2019
and February 21, 2019, seconded by D Eisnach.

5. Financial Reports: D Amundson presented the financial report for fiscal year 2019 through
March 2, 2019, and the multi-year comparison report on pages 14 of the agenda packet.

Board Action: D Eisnach moved to accept the financial report as presented, seconded by J 
Farmen. 

6. Board Review and Approve CE Courses: Continuing education courses, submitted since
the last meeting on August 17, 2019, were reviewed and approved by individual signature
vote.

South Dakota Board of Examiners in Optometry 

Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
8:30AM (CST) 

Tieszen Law Office Conference Room 
Pierre, SD  57501 

Board Members Board Staff Present
Craig Dockter, OD, President  Present 
Denette Eisnach, OD  Present 
Allen Haiar, OD, Vice President  Present 
Scott Schirber, OD Present 
Jamie Farmen, Consumer Member Present 

Deni Amundson, Executive Secretary 
Naomi Cromwell, Board Attorney 
Ann Meyer, Assistant Attorney General 

Deb Mortenson, South Dakota Optometric Society 

Guests 

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

DRAFT MINUTES 
HAVE NOT BEEN 

APPROVED BY THE 
BOARD

11



2 

7. Old Business: Discussion was had regarding the five agenda items that have been
continued to be monitored on state and national levels. Board certification and lasers may be
removed from this list for now. No further discussion. Continue to monitor and table until the
next meeting.

7. New Business:

A. Licensing: No discussion or action taken.

B. Procedural Codes: No discussion or action taken.

C. Administrative Rule/Legislative Updates: Discussion was had regarding HB 1111,
which is an act to provide professional or occupational licensure for certain active duty
military personnel and spouses. All procedures and forms will be reviewed to maintain
compliance with this new law. No action taken.

D. Contracts:

At 9:55am, S Schirber moved to go into executive session pursuant to SDCL 1-25-2 (1) to 
review the executive secretary contract.  

At 10:05am, President Dockter declared the board out of executive session. 

Board Action:  J Farmen moved to increase the salary FY20 contract for Deni Amundson by 
2.5%, for a total of $1820 per month and increase the monthly rent to $425 per month, 
seconded by A Haiar.  

 

 

Board Action: S Schirber moved to approve the FY20 contract for Tieszen Law Office using 
the same terms as FY19, seconded by D Eisnach.  

 

 

Board Action: D Eisnach moved to approve the FY20 contract for the South Dakota 
Optometric Society using the same terms as FY19, seconded by J Farmen.  

 

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

12



3 

Board Action: S Schirber moved to approve the FY20 contracts for Lisa Kollis-Young and 
Scott Kennedy using the same terms as FY19, seconded by D Eisnach.  

 

 

Board Action: J Farmen moved to approve the FY20 contract for BPro using the same terms 
as FY19, seconded by A Haiar.  

 

 

E. Pharmacy Board Database Integration: The South Dakota Board of Pharmacy has
made a request to the other health department boards to integrate license verification
information into their database to assist them in increasing their efficiency in registering
licensees into their Prescription Drug Monitoring Program (PDMP). Deni Amundson will
continue to work with them to find out more about the technical requirements and expenses
associated with complying with their request. Tabled until next meeting.

 

 

F. Administrative Rule and Statute Review: The board reviewed and discussed numerous
administrative rules and statutes. Naomi Cromwell and Deni Amundson will compile a new
packet of potential amendments for review at the next board meeting. Administrative rules
that will be included: 20:50:02: 03.01, 20:50:02:04.03, New Proposed Rules-20:50:02:07.01
et seq., 20:50:02:08, 20:50:04:06, 20:50:10:03, 20:50:08:02, 20:50:08:04, 20:50:11:02, and
20:50:08:02.01. Statutes under review will include: 37-7-14, 36-7-20.4, 36-7-21 and 36-7-24.
The board members will also review the CPT codes and submit any potential amendments to
Deni Amundson to be considered by the board at the next meeting. Tabled until next
meeting.

G. Intense Pulsed Light: No action taken.

At 1:31, Scott Schirber left the meeting. A quorum of the board is still present.

H. Law and Ethics Exam Applicant Protocol: Discussion was had regarding the need to
establish a security protocol for proctoring the law and ethics exam for applicants.  Deni
Amundson will create of draft of an official protocol for review at the next meeting. Tabled
until next meeting.

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

13



4 

I. Forms: There was previous board discussion about revising forms. Deni Amundson
reported that, since this board is currently reviewing numerous administrative rules and
statutes, she will hold of on making any changes until this review is complete. She will go
through everything at that time. No action taken.

J. VOSH Request for Temporary Licensure & Special CE Consideration: Discussion was
had regarding a letter submitted by Volunteer Optometric Services to Humanity regarding
temporary licensure and special CE consideration. This board does not have the legislative
authority to consider temporary licensure and board declined the request for special CE
consideration. No action taken.

8. Public Comment: No public comment.

10. Time and Place of Next Meeting:

Next Meeting: Friday, August 16, 2019, 8:00AM (CST), Tieszen Law Office Conference
Room, 306 East Capitol, Pierre, SD  57501

9. Adjournment:

Board Action: At 1:50pm, D Eisnach moved to adjourn meeting, seconded by J Farmen.

 Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

14



1 

*Naomi Cromwell was in person at the Tieszen Law Office, Pierre, SD. A call-in number was
noticed as available for public access to listen to and participate in the meeting.

1. Attendance: President Dockter called the meeting to order at 6:01 PM on May 8, 2019.

2. Approval of Agenda

Board Action: S Schirber moved to approve the agenda, seconded by A Haiar. Roll call vote:

 

3. New Business

A. Licensing:

Board reviewed application 19-7.

Board Action: A Haiar moved to approved application 19-7, seconded by J Farmen. Roll call
vote: 

4. Public Comment: There was no public comment.

5.Time and Place of Next Regular Meeting:

Next Meeting: Friday, August 16, 2019,  8:00AM (CST), Tieszen Law Office Conference
Room, 306 East Capitol, Pierre, SD  57501

6. Adjournment:

Board Action: At 6:08 PM, J Farmen moved to adjourn meeting, seconded by S Schirber. Roll
call vote: 

 

South Dakota Board of Examiners in Optometry 

Telephonic Meeting Minutes 
May 8, 2019 

6:00 PM (CST) 
Tieszen Law Office Conference Room 

Pierre, SD  57501 

Board Members Board Staff Present
Craig Dockter, OD, President  Present 
Denette Eisnach, OD  Absent 
Allen Haiar, OD, Vice President  Present 
Scott Schirber, OD Present 
Jamie Farmen, Consumer Member Present 

Deni Amundson, Executive Secretary 
Naomi Cromwell, Board Attorney 

Deb MortensoN 

Crystal Duneman 

Guests 

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach ABSENT Farmen YES
Haiar YES 4 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach ABSENT Farmen YES
Haiar YES 4 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach ABSENT Farmen YES
Haiar YES 4 YES, MOTION CARRIED

15



1 

*Naomi Cromwell was in person at the Tieszen Law Office, Pierre, SD. A call-in number was
noticed as available for public access to listen to and participate in the meeting.

1. Attendance: President Dockter called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM on June 13, 2019.

2. Approval of Agenda

Board Action: D Eisnach moved to approve the agenda, seconded by J Farmen. Roll call
vote:

 

3. Conflict of Interest: All board members reported no conflict with agenda items.

4. New Business

A. Licensing:

Board reviewed application 19-8.

Board Action: S Schirber moved to approved application 19-8, seconded by A Haiar. Roll call
vote: 

  Board reviewed application 19-9. 

  Board Action: J Farmen moved to approved application 19-9, seconded by D Eisnach. Roll call  
vote: 

South Dakota Board of Examiners in Optometry 

Telephonic Meeting Minutes 
June 13, 2019 
6:00 PM (CST) 

Tieszen Law Office Conference Room 
Pierre, SD  57501 

Board Members Board Staff Present
Craig Dockter, OD, President  Present 
Denette Eisnach, OD  Present 
Allen Haiar, OD, Vice President  Present 
Scott Schirber, OD Present 
Jamie Farmen, Consumer Member Present 

Deni Amundson, Executive Secretary 
Naomi Cromwell, Board Attorney 

Deb MortensoN 

None 

Guests 

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

16



2 

  Board reviewed application 19-10. 

  Board Action: D Eisnach moved to approved application 19-10, seconded by A Haiar. Roll call   
vote: 

New Licensees: 

• Taylor Kneip
• Brett Lorenz
• Larae Zimprich

5. Public Comment: There was no public comment.

6.Time and Place of Next Regular Meeting:

Next Meeting: Friday, August 16, 2019, 8:00AM (CST), Tieszen Law Office Conference Room,
306 East Capitol, Pierre, SD  57501

7. Adjournment:

Board Action: At 6:07 PM, S Schirber moved to adjourn meeting, seconded by D Eisnach. Roll
call vote: 

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

Dockter YES Schirber YES
Eisnach YES Farmen YES
Haiar YES 5 YES, MOTION CARRIED

17



18



1 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

20:50:02:03.01.  Examination fees. The nonrefundable application fee for taking the initial 1 

examination, which includes the state law and ethics examination, is $175. An additional amount 2 

of $25 shall be paid upon the issuance of a certificate. 3 

Source: 12 SDR 78, effective November 10, 1985; 12 SDR 151, 12 SDR 155, effective July 1, 4 

1986; 13 SDR 44, effective October 20, 1986; 31 SDR 101, effective January 19, 2005; 39 SDR 5 

127, effective January 21, 2013. 6 

 General Authority: SDCL 36-7-12. 7 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-12. 8 

9 

20:50:02:04.03.  Endorsement certification An applicant for licensure by endorsement must 10 

submit the application form and nonrefundable fee of $175 and meet all of the following 11 

conditions: 12 

(1) Be licensed in good standing to practice optometry in a state or territory under U.S.13 

jurisdiction that required passage of a written, entry-level examination at the time of initial 14 

licensure; 15 

(2) Be licensed at the highest a level of prescriptive authority that, in the judgment of the16 

board, is equal to or higher than the requirement in this state as provided in SDCL 36-7-15.3 for 17 

therapeutic drugs possible level in that jurisdiction; 18 

(3) Have been actively and routinely engaged in the practice of optometry, including the19 

use of therapeutic pharmaceutical agents, for at least five consecutive years immediately 20 

preceding making application under this section; 21 

(4) Have submitted directly to the board all transcripts, reports, or other information the22 

board requires; and 23 

19



2 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

(5) Pass the written examination regarding the optometry laws and administrative rules 1 

governing optometrists in the state. 2 

           The candidate must request any optometry licensing agency of any U.S. jurisdiction in 3 

which the applicant is licensed or has ever been licensed to practice optometry to provide reports 4 

directly to the board describing current standing and any past or pending actions taken with 5 

respect to the applicant's authority to practice optometry in those jurisdictions, including such 6 

actions as investigations, entering into consent agreements, suspensions, revocations, and 7 

refusals to issue or renew a license. Any application received from an optometrist who has been 8 

sanctioned by revocation of license by another optometric licensing jurisdiction shall be 9 

reviewed on a case by case basis by the board. 10 

           The board retains the authority to require additional education, testing, or training prior to 11 

granting licensure under SDCL 36-7-13 when the competency of any applicant is in question. 12 

Any applicant who has previously been denied a license by the board shall apply for and meet all 13 

initial licensure requirements. 14 

 Source: 6 SDR 66, effective January 8, 1980; 12 SDR 78, effective November 10, 1985; 12 15 

SDR 151, 12 SDR 155, effective July 1, 1986; 21 SDR 35, effective August 30, 1994; 31 SDR 16 

101, effective January 19, 2005; 32 SDR 225, effective July 5, 2006; 34 SDR 323, effective July 17 

2, 2008. 18 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-13, 36-7-15(3), 36-7-15.1, 36-7-15.2, 36-7-15.3, 36-7-31.19 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-13, 36-7-15.1, 36-7-15.2, 36-7-15.3, 36-7-31. 20 

Cross-Reference: Passing grade, § 20:50:02:06.01. 21 

22 

20



3 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

CHAPTER 20:50:02 1 

EXAMINATIONS OF CANDIDATES 2 

Section 3 

20:50:02:01        Time of examinations. 4 

20:50:02:02        Filing of applications for examination. 5 

20:50:02:03        Repealed. 6 

20:50:02:03.01   Examination fees. 7 

20:50:02:04        Examination subjects -- Admission to practice. 8 

20:50:02:04.01   Repealed. 9 

20:50:02:04.02   Repealed. 10 

20:50:02:04.03   Endorsement certification. 11 

20:50:02:04.04   Minimum educational requirements -- Pharmaceutical agents. 12 

20:50:02:04.05   Repealed. 13 

20:50:02:04.06   Repealed. 14 

20:50:02:05        Transferred. 15 

20:50:02:06        National Board of Examiners board test required. 16 

20:50:02:06.01   Passing grade. 17 

20:50:02:07        Certificate of registration. 18 

20:50:02:07.01   Initial review.  19 

20:50:02:07.02   Processing applications.  20 

20:50:02:07.03   Investigation of application.  21 

20:50:02:08        Annual renewal fees. 22 

21

http://sdlegislature.gov/rules/DisplayRule.aspx?Rule=20:50:02:01


4 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

20:50:02:06.  National Board of Examiners board test required. Satisfactory passing of 1 

examinations as certified by the National Board of Examiners in Optometry or other national 2 

board exam approved by the board in any of the subjects required by § 20:50:02:04 and 3 

satisfactory passing of the national pharmacology test is required. The board may require all 4 

candidates to take additional tests on any subjects listed in § 20:50:02:04, including the National 5 

Board of Clinical Skills examination. Candidates' applications shall show when they took the 6 

national board examinations and the subjects covered. The examinations must have been passed 7 

within the five years before the date of South Dakota licensure. 8 

          Source: SL 1975, ch 16, § 1; 6 SDR 66, effective January 8, 1980; 12 SDR 78, effective 9 

November 10, 1985; 12 SDR 151, 12 SDR 155, effective July 1, 1986; 17 SDR 199, effective 10 

June 30, 1991. 11 

          General Authority: SDCL 36-7-15. 12 

          Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-12, 36-7-12.1. 13 

14 

20:50:02:07.01.  Initial review.  Upon receipt of an application for an initial certificate of 15 

registration or for endorsement, the executive secretary shall review to determine if the applicant 16 

has submitted all required documents, information, non-refundable fees, and other materials.  17 

The executive secretary shall notify the applicant of any materials missing from the application.  18 

The applicant has 180 days from the date of notice to provide the information intended to 19 

complete the application.  If an applicant fails to submit required materials within 180 days of 20 

notice that materials are missing from the application, the executive secretary may designate the 21 

application as withdrawn.  The executive secretary shall notify the applicant if an application is 22 

designated as withdrawn.  The applicant is not precluded from reapplying at the expiration of the 23 

22

http://sdlegislature.gov/statutes/DisplayStatute.aspx?Type=Statute&Statute=36-7-15
http://sdlegislature.gov/statutes/DisplayStatute.aspx?Type=Statute&Statute=36-7-12
http://sdlegislature.gov/statutes/DisplayStatute.aspx?Type=Statute&Statute=36-7-12.1


5 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

180 day period, but all required documents, information, non-refundable fees, and other1 

materials must be resubmitted with such reapplication. 2 

Source: 3 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-15(1),(3). 4 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-11, 36-7-12 ,36-7-12.1, 36-7-12.2, 36-7-13, 36-7-24, 36-7-25.5 

6 

20:50:02:07.02.  Processing applications.  The executive secretary shall initiate processing of 7 

complete applications after receiving documentation from primary sources to verify that the 8 

applicant has met the requirements of applicable statutes and regulations.  9 

Source: 10 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-15(1), (3). 11 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-11, 36-7-12 ,36-7-12.1, 36-7-12.2, 36-7-13, 36-7-24, 36-7-25.12 

13 

20:50:02:07.03.  Investigation of application.  The executive secretary may determine that the 14 

information disclosed in an application or primary source documentation requires investigation 15 

to determine whether the applicant meets the qualifications or standards for issuance of a license.  16 

The executive secretary may conduct that investigation, or may provide the matter to the board 17 

investigator for investigation.  The executive secretary shall notify the applicant of any issues the 18 

executive secretary has determined require investigation. 19 

Source: 20 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-15(1), (3). 21 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-11, 36-7-12 ,36-7-12.1, 36-7-12.2, 36-7-13, 36-7-24, 36-7-25.22 

23 

23



6 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

20:50:02:08.  Annual renewal fees. The annual renewal fee for licensed optometrists is $300 if 1 

paid by the first day of October of each year. The additional fee for reinstatement after a default, 2 

pursuant to SDCL 36-7-20, is $100 for each calendar month the fee is late, up to a maximum of 3 

twelve months, after which a licensee may be renewed only where, in the discretion of the board, 4 

good cause is shown for the delinquency. 5 

An optometrist who has not actively and routinely practiced for a period of greater than 6 

one year, but no more than three years, may at the discretion of the board be reinstated upon a 7 

showing of good cause, payment of the renewal fee for each year of absence, and upon providing 8 

proof of being current on all continuing education requirements. 9 

Source: 12 SDR 78, effective November 10, 1985; 12 SDR 151, 12 SDR 155, effective July 1, 10 

1986; 13 SDR 44, effective October 20, 1986; 31 SDR 101, effective January 19, 2005; 32 SDR 11 

225, effective July 5, 2006; 41 SDR 109, effective January 12, 2015. 12 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-20. 13 

Law Implemented: SDCL 1-26-6.9, 36-7-20. 14 
15 

20:50:04:06.  Optometrist to write and release prescription -- Requests for medical 16 

records. If a patient for whom an optometrist has prescribed spectacle lenses so requests, the 17 

optometrist shall write out the prescription and deliver a copy of it to the patient. A spectacle lens 18 

prescription expires on the date specified by the prescriber, based upon the medical judgment of 19 

the prescriber with respect to the ocular health of the patient. If a prescription expires in less than 20 

one year, the reasons for the expiration date must be documented in the patient's medical record. 21 

No prescriber may specify a prescription expiration date that is earlier than the date a 22 

reexamination of the patient that occurs prior to the time recommended by the prescriber for a 23 

24



7 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

reexamination of the patient that is medically necessary. Requests for medical records are 1 

governed by SDCL 36-2-16. 2 

Source: SL 1975, ch 16, § 1; 6 SDR 66, effective January 8, 1980; 12 SDR 78, effective 3 

November 10, 1985; 12 SDR 151, 12 SDR 155, effective July 1, 1986; 44 SDR 99, effective 4 

December 11, 2017. 5 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-15. 6 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-1, 36-7-15(3). 7 

8 

20:50:08:02.  Acceptable courses of study. The board shall determine acceptable continuing 9 

education courses approve, at each annual meeting, a list of acceptable out-of-state courses of 10 

study that may be taken in lieu of courses provided within the state. In addition, other meetings 11 

and seminars either within or without the state may be approved in advance by the board. A 12 

request for approval must be made at least 15 days before the meeting or seminar. The board 13 

may approve out-of-state courses if they are substantially equivalent to those offered in the state. 14 

The board may approve courses on the following subjects or similar suitable subjects as 15 

determined by the board;: 16 

(1) Binocular vision and perception;17 

(2) Pathology;18 

(3) Contact lenses;19 

(4) Pharmacology;20 

(5) Low vision;21 

(6) Vision training or vision therapy;22 

(7) Pediatric vision care;23 

(8) Geriatric vision care;24 

25



8 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

(9) New instrumentation and techniques; 1 

(10) Public health and optometric care;2 

(11) Optometric examinations, diagnosis, and treatment; and3 

(12) Patient protection and compliance issues.4 

Source: SL 1975, ch 16, § 1; 6 SDR 66, effective January 8, 1980; 12 SDR 151, 12 SDR 155, 5 

effective July 1, 1986; 24 SDR 91, effective January 6, 1998; 43 SDR 61, effective October 24, 6 

2016. 7 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-15(4). 8 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-20.1, 36-7-20.2. 9 

10 

20:50:08:02.01.  Limits on self-directed learning. No more than nine hours of self-directed 11 

learning may be credited to a licensee in a three-year period to fulfill continuing education 12 

requirements. The number of credit hours is limited for each self-directed learning category as 13 

follows: 14 

(1) Surgical/ophthalmologist observation -- one hour credit for every two hours of15 

observation, up to four hours credit. If the location of the observation being submitted for credit 16 

is the optometrist’s regular office, evidence must be provided to the board that the subject of the 17 

observation is other than the optometrist’s regular practice area. The board must be provided 18 

documentation signed by the ophthalmologist evidencing the observation which must include a 19 

summary detailing the type of observation and the educational goal and outcome of such 20 

observation; 21 

(2) Video, recorded webinars, and teleconferences -- up to two hours credit. The course22 

must be proctored to receive credit; 23 

26



9 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

(3) Correspondence courses from colleges or occupational journals -- up to four hours 1 

credit. The course must have self-testing to receive credit; 2 

(4) Live webinars -- up to four hours credit. A certificate of attendance stating it is a live3 

webinar must be provided to the board in order to receive live webinar credit. 4 

In the event of an emergency or situation not within the control of the licensee, and for 5 

good cause shown, a live stream presentation may receive credit as a live presentation. 6 

Source: 24 SDR 91, effective January 6, 1998; 37 SDR 133, effective January 18, 2011; 44 SDR 7 

99, effective December 11, 2017. 8 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-15(4). 9 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-20.1, 36-7-20.2. 10 

11 

20:50:08:04.  Obtaining evidence of compliance. To show compliance with educational 12 

requirements each registered optometrist shall obtain evidence of attendance or completion from 13 

the sponsoring organization for each course. Documentation must show the date of attendance or 14 

completion of the course, the speaker or instructor title of the course, the COPE identification 15 

number, if applicable, the location of the course or the medium used for instruction, and the 16 

hours in attendance or required for completion. The evidence of compliance must accompany the 17 

registrant's application for renewal of license. 18 

Source: SL 1975, ch 16, § 1; 6 SDR 66, effective January 8, 1980; 12 SDR 151, 12 SDR 155, 19 

effective July 1, 1986; 24 SDR 91, effective January 6, 1998; 43 SDR 61, effective October 24, 20 

2016. 21 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-15(4). 22 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-20.1, 36-7-20.2. 23 

24 

27



10 
2019 Rule Changes – 7-31-19 version 

20:50:10:03.  Expiration of contact lens prescription. A contact lens prescription expires: 1 

(1) Not less than one year after the issue date of the prescription; or2 

(2) On the date specified by the prescriber, based upon the medical judgment of3 

the prescriber with respect to the ocular health of the patient. 4 

 If a prescription expires in less than one year, the prescriber shall document the reasons 5 

for that expiration date in the patient's medical record. No prescriber may specify a prescription 6 

expiration date that is earlier than the date a reexamination of the patient occurs prior to the time 7 

recommended by the prescriber for a reexamination of the patient that is medically necessary. 8 

Source: 44 SDR 99, effective December 11, 2017. 9 

General Authority: SDCL 36-7-15(3). 10 

Law Implemented: SDCL 36-7-1. 11 

12 

20:50:11:02.  Professional corporation -- Admitting shareholder. At least No later than 30 13 

days before admitting a new shareholder or member after a change in membership or 14 

shareholders, the corporation shall notify the board in writing of its intention the change, 15 

indicating the identity, licensure status, and residence address of the any new shareholder or 16 

member. 17 

 Source: 12 SDR 78, effective November 10, 1985; 12 SDR 151, 12 SDR 155, effective July 1, 18 

1986. 19 

 General Authority: SDCL 47-11B-23. 20 

 Law Implemented: SDCL 47-11B-3. 21 

28



36-7-1.2.   Prohibitions on use of oral therapeutics and oral steroids. No optometrist may 1 

prescribe, administer, or dispense any oral therapeutic agent to any child under twelve years of 2 

age, or any oral steroid to any person, without prior consultation with a physician licensed 3 

pursuant to chapter 36-4. 4 

Source: SL 2003, ch 201, § 3. 5 

6 

36-7-14.   Recording of certificate of registration. Before any certificate of registration is7 

issued it shall be numbered and recorded in a book kept in the office of the board and its number 8 

shall be noted upon the certificate. 9 

Source: SDC 1939, § 27.0705; revised pursuant to SL 1972, ch 15, § 3. 10 

11 

36-7-20.4.   Certificate of compliance with continuing education requirements--12 

Exemptions. Each licensed optometrist residing in or in active practice within the State of South 13 

Dakota shall, on or before September first in the third year after his initial licensure, and every 14 

third year thereafter, certify on forms provided by the Board of Examiners in Optometry that he 15 

has complied with §§ 36-7-20.1 and 36-7-20.2. This provision shall not apply to any licensee 16 

serving in the armed forces during any part of the thirty-six months preceding the certification 17 

nor to any licensee submitting proof that he was suffering from a serious or disabling illness or 18 

physical disability which prevented his attendance at any qualified educational program within 19 

the State of South Dakota during the thirty-six months immediately preceding the certification. 20 

21 

Source: SL 1979, ch 252, § 3. 22 

23 

36-7-21.   Remission of annual fee while in military service. The Board of Examiners shall24 

have power to remit the license fee of all registrants while on active duty in the armed forces of 25 

the United States. 26 

Source: SDC 1939, § 27.0709 as added by SL 1951, ch 131, § 5; SL 1967, ch 99.27 

29



1 

36-7-24.   Grounds for revocation of certificate. The Board of Examiners, in compliance with2 

chapter 1-26, may revoke the certificate of any registrant for any one, or any combination, of the 3 

following causes: 4 

(1) Conviction of a felony, as shown by a certified copy of the record of the court of5 

conviction; 6 

(2) Obtaining, or attempting to obtain, a certificate of registration by fraudulent7 

misrepresentation; 8 

(3) Malpractice;9 

(4) Continued practice by a person knowingly having an infectious or contagious10 

disease; 11 

(5) Habitual drunkenness or habitual addiction to the use of morphine, cocaine, or12 

other habit-forming drugs; 13 

(6) Unprofessional conduct;14 

(7) Failure to submit to or cooperate with the criminal background investigation15 

requested by the board. 16 

17 

Source: SDC 1939, § 27.0707; SL 1951, ch 131, § 4; revised pursuant to SL 1972, ch 15, § 4; 18 

SL 2005, ch 199, § 19; SL 2009, ch 179, § 2; SL 2013, ch 173, § 4.19 

20 

30



LAW AND ETHICS EXAM PROTOCOL 

• Executive secretary will communicate with applicant to find out which city he or she
wishes to take the exam and will mail law booklet to applicant.

• Executive secretary will contact board member in the city of which the applicant
wishes to take the exam. He/she will send the board member the cell phone number
and email address of applicant.

• The board member will contact the applicant to arrange a date and time that is
mutually convenient.

• Upon arrival for the exam, the board member will check the ID of the applicant offer a
quiet location to complete the exam.

• Applicant will be asked to leave his/her cell phone and personal belongings in
another room. The only items he/she will be allowed is the law booklet and
pen/pencils.

• He or she will have 45 minutes to complete the open book exam.

Board of Examiners in Optometry 
PO Box 513 

Wall, SD  57790 
sdoptboard@goldenwest.net 
Telephone: (605) 279-2244 

Website: http://optometry.sd.gov 

31

mailto:sdoptboard@goldenwest.net


PROCEDURE CODES FOR REVIEW AT 8/16 BOARD MEETING 

LipiFlow / iLux / MiboFlow: 0207T – Evacuation of meibomian glands, automated, 
using heat and intermittent pressure, unilateral  

 Maskin probing: 67999 – Unlisted procedure, eyelids 

 Intense Pulsed Light:  17999 -  Other procedures on the integumentary system 

Ocular Allergy testing: 95004 - Percutaneous tests with allergenic extracts, 
immediate type reactions 

Ellman treatment for trichiasis:  67850 – Excision and destruction procedures on the   
eyelids 

Ellman treatment for conj chalasis: 68330 – Conjunctivoplasty Procedures 

32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40


	(1) Agenda 2019-8-16
	(3)Conflict of Interest Instructions and Form
	(4.1)Minutes 2019-3-25 Draft
	South Dakota Board of Examiners in Optometry
	Meeting Minutes


	(4.2)Minutes 2019-5-8 Telephonic Meeting
	South Dakota Board of Examiners in Optometry
	Telephonic Meeting Minutes


	(4.3)Minutes 2019-6-13 Telephonic Meeting
	South Dakota Board of Examiners in Optometry
	Telephonic Meeting Minutes


	(5) Treasurer's Report
	(7c1) 2019 Rule Changes 7-31-19
	(7c2) 2020 Session - Statutes to consider
	(7d) Law and Ethics Exam Protocol
	(8b) PROCEDURE CODES FOR REVIEW AT 8
	(8d) BPro

